1951

N. J. Meagher v. Uintah Gas Company et al : Brief of Appellants Ray Phebus, Paul Stock and Joe T. Juhan

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This action, a suit to quiet title to real property in Uintah County, Utah, commenced by the filing of a complaint on October 17, 1944, was before this court in *Meagher v. Uintah Gas Co. et al.* (1947), 112 Utah 149, 185 P. 2d 747, and incidentally in *Phebus et al. v. Dunford, Judge, et al.* (1948), 198 P. 2d 973.

The first decision was on appeal from a decree quieting title in favor of respondent Meagher, the trial court having held that the oil and gas lease of June 4, 1924, Exhibit A-1, as modified on May 21, 1927, Exhibit A-3, had terminated as to oil rights by the express provisions of the lease and had been abandoned as to gas rights. The trial court decreed on April 15, 1946 (R. 53) that the oil and gas lease of June 4, 1924 and modification agreement of May 21, 1927 were invalid and of no force or effect and cancelled, the defendants in the action, and

each of them, being thereby perpetually enjoined from asserting any claim to the premises or any part thereof. This court reversed the decision of the lower court and remanded the case for proceedings to conform to the opinion, holding, among other things, that the lessee had not given up the lease either by acts consistent with its forfeiture terms nor by acts that would justify a conclusion of abandonment. Following the decision on the first appeal of this case a petition for re-hearing was filed and under date of March 15, 1948 denied. The remittitur was issued March 16, 1948 (R. 65).

The case of *Phebus et al. v. Dunford, Judge, et al.*, supra, was a mandamus proceeding arising out of the action taken by the trial court ostensibly pursuant to the decision of this court in the first appeal, the trial court having vacated and set aside its former decision except as to Ray Phebus, the petitioner in the mandamus proceeding. In the mandamus proceeding this court held that its decision (*Meagher v. Uintah Gas Co. et al.*, supra), when filed in the lower court, automatically set aside in its entirety the lower court's decision and for the sake of clearing the record the lower court should enter an order setting aside without limitation its entire decision. Such an order was entered February 8, 1949 (R. 66).

Oil was discovered in commercial quantities on September 18, 1948 (R. 255) on the property covered by the original lease and modification agreement. Such discovery was the result of drilling by Equity Oil Company,

as operator, under an operating agreement with Weber Oil Company, Paul Stock and Joe T. Juhan, who claimed the working interests in the leasehold, Exhibit A-25. Weber Oil Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Equity Oil Company (R. 259). From September 18, 1948, date of discovery of oil (R. 255), and up to and including May 31, 1950 gross crude oil sales amounted to more than \$672,000.00, from which amount something slightly over \$105,600.00 had been withheld on account of royalties and approximately \$574,000.00 on account of operations and expenditures; indicating substantial values apparent on the date of discovery, September 18, 1948.

Meagher's original complaint filed October 17, 1944 (R. 1), his amended complaint of February 19, 1945 (R. 14) and the second amended complaint filed April 18, 1945 (R. 17) were all on the theory that Meagher was the fee owner of the 480 acres involved in the controversy unencumbered by any leasehold. On October 10, 1945 Meagher filed his verified reply (R. 41) alleging, in effect, that the lease of June 4, 1924 and the modification agreement of May 21, 1927 were void and of no force or effect due to the lessee's failure to fulfill the obligations thereof; that there had been no actual drilling for gas or oil for over fifteen years; that the lease and modification agreement had expired by the terms thereof; that the purposes and objects of the same had not been accomplished; and that the leasehold estate had been abandoned. The reply was directed to answers theretofore filed by Ray Phebus, Ashley Valley Oil Company

and Joe T. Juhan, which answers were practically identical in asserting that the lease of June 4, 1924 and the modification agreement of May 21, 1927 were in full force and effect and entitled the defendants to have the same confirmed and adjudicated as being in full force and effect as against Meagher and all persons claiming by, through or under him (R. 20-40). Ray Phebus was permitted to adopt the answer of Joe T. Juhan at the first trial in January, 1946 (R. 43). Such were the pleadings at the time of the first trial, at the time of the decree entered April 15, 1946 and at the time of the remittitur from this court in connection with the first appeal on March 16, 1948 and, in fact, until August 3, 1949 when the court ordered the filing of an amended reply to the answers of Juhan, Phebus and Ashley Valley Oil Company (R. 85). By the amended reply Meagher claimed an undivided one-half interest in the oil mineral leasehold estate, which claim was later identified as being by virtue of Exhibit A-30.

Prior to the date last mentioned Meagher served upon Juhan, Phebus and Ashley Valley Oil Company a notice of motion for order authorizing filing of a third amended complaint, attaching to the notice the proposed pleading (R. 67). On June 9, 1949 Meagher withdrew his motion to file the third amended complaint (R. 80) and on the same day served a motion for order authorizing filing of an amended reply to defendants' answers (R. 81). Objections were made to plaintiff's motion to re-open and to file the amended reply (R. 83) and on

August 3, 1949, by order dated on said day, the trial court overruled and denied the objections and permitted the filing of the amended reply. The order contained, among other things, the following:

"It now appearing that further pleading on the part of the parties may be desired and that the regular setting of the trial calendar for the Fall term in Uintah County is to be held during the court session of the court at Vernal, Uintah County, Utah on the 19th day of August, beginning at 10 o'clock a.m., and it appearing that there is no need for making a special setting in view of such facts, the motion for special setting is denied." (Italics ours).

The name Paul Stock was carried in the caption of the order of August 3, 1949 for the first time since after the filing of the amended complaint on February 19, 1945 (R. 85). Stock was a party defendant as the case was originally filed and was never dismissed out of the action. The order for publication of summons was filed October 17, 1944 (R. 11). The affidavit of attorney for plaintiff filed the same day (R. 10) states that to the knowledge of affiant the defendants Ray Phebus, Paul Stock and Joe T. Juhan reside outside of the State of Utah. In the order for publication of summons it is recited that the defendants are unknown or either dead or reside outside of the State of Utah and cannot, after due diligence, be found therein, and directs summons to be served by publication. Publication of the summons, carrying the name of Paul Stock as one of the parties

defendant, was duly made, with the proof thereof filed February 7, 1945 (R. 13), the same stating, in due form, that the first publication was on the 4th day of January, 1945 and the last publication on the first day of February, 1945, in the Vernal Express, a newspaper of general circulation published once each week at Vernal, Utah.

After the filing of the order of August 3, 1949 carrying the name of Paul Stock as one of the defendants and the suggestion of further pleading "on the part of the parties," Stock, on the 17th day of August, 1949, filed his answer to plaintiff's second amended complaint, and in connection therewith a counterclaim praying that a purported release executed by him on the 21st day of October, 1944, in favor of Meagher, be cancelled and decreed of record to be null and void and that it be decreed that the plaintiff and those claiming or to claim by, through or under him have no right, title or interest in or to the leasehold estate by reason of the purported release, or otherwise (R. 92).

Juhan and Phebus demurred to Meagher's amended reply (R. 91) and Meagher, in turn, on the 15th day of October, 1949, served a reply to the Stock answer and counterclaim (R. 107) which latter pleading was thereafter amended (R. 115). Stock demurred (R. 117) to the reply as amended and moved to strike portions thereof (R. 119). On November 25, 1949 Meagher served a second amended reply to the answer of the defendants Joe T. Juhan and Ray Phebus (R. 121) to which Juhan and

Phebus separately demurred (R. 125, 129) and separately moved to strike portions thereof (R. 127, 131). The demurrer of Stock to plaintiff's reply as amended, his motion to strike and the separate demurrers and motions to strike filed by Juhan and Phebus were overruled and denied by the court on March 28, 1950 (R. 134).

The second trial of the action was tried to the court without a jury at Provo, Utah County, rather than at Vernal, Uintah County, on the 26th day of June, 1950 (R. 135), at which time the court permitted the plaintiff to further amend his second amended complaint, introducing into the case for the first time an issue concerning a 2% landowners royalty. The court received in evidence the "A" series of exhibits, marked A-1 to A-62, both inclusive, with the exception of Exhibits A-43, A-44 and A-45, which were not presented to the court. The cause was presented largely upon the "A" series of exhibits offered and received in evidence, stipulations of counsel and the testimony of Paul Stock and Katherine M. Ivers.

On March 6, 1951 the trial court filed a 55-page memorandum decision (R. 140). Proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law were submitted on behalf of Meagher and thereafter and on the 4th day of June, 1951 adopted by the court (R. 200), notwithstanding objections to the proposed findings dated April 14, 1951 (R. 196) and overruled and denied by a supplemental memorandum dated June 4, 1951 (R. 197). The objections urged to the proposed findings were that they were

contrary to the evidence, facts and the law, and further that they were contrary to the 55-page memorandum decision. The inconsistency between the memorandum decision and the proposed findings was conceded by plaintiff's counsel (R. 327). The decree from which this appeal is taken is dated June 4, 1951 and was filed in the office of the Clerk of the District Court, Uintah County, Utah, June 8, 1951 and entered on said day (R. 220).

The "A" series of exhibits supplants the exhibits at the first trial and includes photostats and other stipulated evidence relative to title, whether it be to surface rights, leasehold interests or the fee, in and to the 480 acres of land in the Ashley Valley Oil Field, Uintah County, Utah, the subject of the litigation. The chain of the various titles is charted, for the convenience of the court, on Exhibit A-62, likewise on Exhibit A-57, both charts indicating the exhibit letter and number applicable to the specific title document. A copy of the chart, Exhibit A-62, is attached at the end of this brief to more readily illustrate the chain of title.

Exhibit A-30 is a photostatic copy of the recorded document entitled "Release" dated October 21, 1944, executed by appellant Stock in favor of N. J. Meagher, and is one of the pivotal questions involved in this appeal. It is contended by the appellants Phebus, Stock and Juhan that the so-called release is ineffective as a conveyance, that to assert the same as such, under conditions to be hereinafter more particularly pointed out, con-

stitutes fraud, that Meagher is decisively estopped and debarred from claiming the same as a transfer and that it is an abortive document so far as any relinquishment or surrender is concerned.

Ashley Valley Oil Company is not concerned in the so-called Stock release but is concerned in maintaining its position as the holder and owner of the leasehold or working or operating interest in what is called the North Forty, or the NE $\frac{1}{4}$ of the SE $\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 15 of the lands involved. On the other hand Phebus, Stock and Juhan, or their assigns, can claim no direct interest in the operating right or working interest in the North Forty by way of transfer or assignment. Weber Oil Company, Stock and Juhan claim to be the owners of the entire working interest by virtue of the lease and modification agreement, in all but the North Forty, with Equity Oil Company the operator thereof, all pursuant to Exhibit A-25.

At the time of the execution of the Stock purported release on October 21, 1944, four days after the commencement of this action, Phebus had, of record, an undivided one-half of the oil mineral estate in 440 acres of the original lease, Stock the other one-half of the oil mineral estate and Juhan the entire gas mineral estate. The title exhibits in the "A" series supporting the statement just made and in the order of the respective dates thereof are: 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 11, 15, 12, 13, 14 and 17.

The title situation of the oil and gas mineral estates up to October 21, 1944, the date of the alleged release, with reference to the chart, Exhibit A-62, was: R. C. Hill, the lessee in the lease dated June 4, 1924, Exhibit A-1, sublet the same on October 30, 1924 to Utah Oil Refining Company, with the exception of the North Forty, Exhibit A-2, reserving in addition to the North Forty certain interests which he assigned to Ashley Valley Oil Company under date of November 10, 1924, Exhibit A-3. On May 21, 1927 Ashley Valley Oil Company entered into the modification agreement with M. P. Smith, Exhibit A-5, in contemplation of the modification agreement of June 9, 1927, Exhibit A-6, between it and Utah Oil Refining Company. On April 24, 1929 Utah Oil Refining Company, Exhibit A-11, by agreement, sublet the property to Ray Phebus and Paul Stock. On May 29th of that year, Exhibit A-15, Ray Phebus and Paul Stock assigned the gas rights to Valley Fuel Supply Company. On April 30, 1931, Exhibit A-12, Phebus and Stock assigned the oil rights to Standard Oil Company of California, which, in turn, and under date of December 31, 1931, assigned the same to The California Company, Exhibit A-13, which latter company assigned back to Stock and Phebus on March 21, 1934, Exhibit A-14. In the meantime, on October 30, 1930, Edward Watson, Trustee, successor to R. C. Hill, assigned the North Forty to Ashley Valley Oil Company, Exhibit A-16. On November 7, 1941 Valley

Fuel Supply Company assigned the gas rights to Juhan, Exhibit A-17. Thus the title to the mineral estate stood at the time of the Stock release dated October 21, 1944, Exhibit A-30.

Subsequent assignments of the original leasehold, with the exception of the North Forty, after October 21, 1944 are evidenced, in order of their date, by the "A" series of exhibits numbered 18, 19, 20, 21, 24, 23 and 25. Restating the various exhibits, Ray Phebus, by quitclaim and assignment, transferred whatever interest he had to Juhan. This was on January 19, 1945, Exhibit A-18. On April 14, 1945 Paul Stock, by a similar document, transferred whatever rights he had to Charles S. Hill, Exhibit A-19. Hill in turn, by a similar document dated January 5, 1946, transferred his interest to Juhan, Exhibit A-20. At the time of the first trial, January 8, 1946, when Phebus adopted the answer of Juhan, and excluding the North Forty and giving no effect whatsoever to the so-called Stock release of October 21, 1944, Juhan was the holder and owner of the entire oil and gas mineral estates.

At the time of the entry of the decree on April 15, 1946 (later reversed) the title picture, so far as the leasehold pertaining to the oil and gas mineral estates was concerned, had changed by Juhan's quitclaim and assignment of an undivided one-half interest to Equity Oil Company on January 11, 1946, Exhibit A-21. Equity Oil Company under date of December 30, 1947, by a similar

document, Exhibit A-24, assigned its interest to Weber Oil Company, its wholly owned subsidiary. On July 12, 1948 Juhan quitclaimed a one-fourth interest to Stock, Exhibit A-23, to be followed on December 30, 1948 by an operating agreement of that date, Exhibit A-25, wherein and among other things it was agreed between Weber, Stock and Juhan that the working interests in and to the entire leasehold were held 50% by Weber, 25% by Stock and 25% by Juhan, with Equity Oil Company as operator. Thus was the record status of the oil and gas leasehold estates, excluding the North Forty and giving no effect to the so-called Stock release as of the time of the second trial, June 26, 1950, and at the time of the quitclaim deed from Meagher to his children dated January 27, 1948, Exhibit A-22, and concerning which instrument we will have more to say.

On the other side of the chart, Exhibit A-62, the fee title was in the Sheridans et al. on June 4, 1924, the date of the R. C. Hill lease, by which lease a landowners royalty of 12½% was reserved in favor of the lessors, the Sheridans et al. On November 14, 1924, by a warranty deed, Exhibit A-4, the Sheridans conveyed to M. P. Smith. Out of the landowners royalty Smith proceeded to carve out royalty interests by way of covenants running with the land totaling 12½% in all, evidenced by assignments and agreements of which Exhibit A-46 is not only an example but gives to Meagher a royalty interest of 1%. Meagher thereafter, as evidenced by Exhibit A-52, secured an additional 1% royalty interest from T. G.

Alexander. The two exhibits last mentioned are not shown on the chart, but disclose two of the royalty interests referred to in the modification agreement of May 21, 1927. The latter instrument accounts for the entire so-called landowners royalty converted into the form of covenants and disposed of by Smith before the modification agreement and before a quitclaim of an undivided one-fifth interest, with exceptions and reservations, to T. G. Alexander, Exhibit A-8, and a quitclaim of an undivided four-fifths interest with the same exceptions and reservations to Meagher, Exhibit A-7. These documents are shown on the chart and are both dated December 19, 1927.

Exhibits A-7 and A-8, with the exceptions and reservations therein contained, will be analyzed at some length. They are important in determining the nature of Meagher's interest as the owner of surface rights as distinguished from possible future reversions, the nature of the interest quitclaimed by Meagher to his children on June 27, 1948, Exhibit A-22, and the effectiveness of the Stock instrument of October 21, 1944 as a surrender, relinquishment or release. It can be said, however, that Meagher, at the time of the commencement of this action on October 17, 1944 and at the time of the so-called Stock release on October 21, 1944 and up to the quitclaim of January 27, 1948, was the owner of at least surface rights subject to the lease of June 4, 1924 as modified by the

agreement of May 21, 1927. On January 27, 1948 the children of N. J. Meagher became the owners of at least surface rights by virtue of the quitclaim deed of that day.

When the trial court permitted Meagher to amend his reply by the order of August 3, 1949, practically eleven months after the discovery of oil, a new element was injected into the case. Meagher claims, and the trial court has so held, the Stock release to be a conveyance of the oil rights possessed by Stock on October 21, 1944. If Meagher obtained any right by reason of the release it was a right acquired after the commencement of this action. Over objections the court permitted the new matter to be so litigated, considering the amended reply to be **germane to the cause of action or complaint** as originally filed. The injection of the new issue after the first appeal to this court, and after the discovery of oil, is perhaps a question preliminary to consideration of the release itself.

At the time of the trial on June 26, 1950 Meagher further amended his second amended complaint (R. 230), the effect of which was to reduce the outstanding oil royalty interests carved out of the landowners royalty by M. P. Smith to $10\frac{1}{2}\%$ rather than $12\frac{1}{2}\%$ on the theory that Meagher, at the time of the trial, was the owner of a 2% royalty interest merging in his claim of ownership to the entire property, interjecting for the first time this issue into the case but with the understanding that the

defendants, without the necessity of amendment or further pleading, should be deemed to have controverted any assertion resulting from the amendments and that they might raise any legal or equitable defense which, by any manner of pleading, could have been brought into the case (R. 232.) Plaintiff's counsel stated, for the record, that the issue with respect to the royalty, as brought in by amendment, is whether Meagher is entitled to 2% or to 1-1/3% oil royalty interest, and this for the reason that, as counsel stated, if plaintiff did not assert such position that he might be subjected to the doctrine of res judicata (R. 233).

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