1951

N. J. Meagher v. Uintah Gas Company et al : Brief of Respondent N. J. Meagher

Utah Supreme Court

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

Appellants claim that Meagher is estopped by accepting the fruits of the first decree. We answer: This argument is simply beyond comprehension. We know

of no decree in this litigation which has as yet yielded any benefits to Meagher. Surely appellants do not refer to the original decree of the trial court which was reversed. Possibly appellants have in mind the elementary principle that estoppel by decree can only arise when the party against whom it is asserted has derived some benefit from a previous decree. This is good law but it has no application to the facts of this case.

Appellants assert that Meagher is estopped, urging that he did not timely assert his claims to an interest in the lease after this court determined that the lease was valid and existing. This has been answered in our discussion above with respect to laches.

Appellants argue that Meagher is estopped because he knew that Stock executed a quitclaim to Charles S. Hill (A-19) some time after Stock had released to Meagher. The short answer to this is that Meagher took all appropriate action to advise Stock of Meagher's position and to ascertain Stock's intentions. The quiet title suit had already been commenced. Meagher had already obtained a release from Stock. But he did more, he wrote to Stock (A-39) and asked why the quitclaim had been given to Hill. He pointed out that he, Meagher, was now the owner of Stock's former interest in the property. He pointed out that deeds of this kind "just mess up an abstract of title". He also pointed out the confusion the quitclaim would

cause in view of the obligation of Stock to reconvey some outstanding landowners' royalty. This was positive action on Meagher's part and is entirely inconsistent with appellants' claim that Meagher led Stock to believe that Meagher had waived any rights or claims or that Meagher acquiesced in Stock's quitclaim to Hill. Certainly upon receipt of this letter it was Stock's duty to speak up if he intended to repudiate his former release. Stock received Meagher's letter. What did he do? He simply ignored it. It was not answered.

We are convinced that no impropriety would be intentionally indulged by any of our opposing counsel. But in discussing this point we must call attention to an inadvertence which involves a gross misstatement of the record. At page 33 of appellants' brief, in referring to the release Stock gave to Meagher, they say: "Notwithstanding it was repudiated by Stock six months after it was obtained, still respondent made no complaint." When appellants say that "respondent made no complaint" they overlook the vigorous complaint addressed to Stock in the letter (A-39) discussed above. Thus the facts are that even though Meagher did complain and did ask Stock for an explanation, Stock remained secretive as to his intentions.

Appellants seek to estop Meagher by a remarkably obtuse line of reasoning predicated upon the fact that Meagher transferred his interest in the property to his

children pending the litigation. We answer that no inference can be drawn that a man waives any rights in favor of strangers merely because he transfers his interest in property to his children.

Appellants argue that Meagher is estopped because he did not try to stop appellants and their assigns from drilling on the property. We answer: Once this court determined that the oil and gas lease had not been extinguished any party having a portion of the lessee's rights also has a clear right to conduct operations on the property. When two or more persons own an interest in land, either can develop it. When two or more persons own lessee's interests in an oil lease either can develop under it.

In *Buchanan v. Jencks*, 38 R. I. 443, 96 Atl. 307, the court said:

“A tenant in common has the right to divest himself of his entire interest in the common property and thus bring into association with his former co-tenants one who has theretofore been a stranger to the title, and this he may do independently and without the consent of such co-tenants.”

In *Prairie Oil & Gas Co. v. Allen* (C.C.A. 8th), 2 Fed. (2d) 566, the court held that where property is held by tenants in common each has the right without consent of any other to explore for and produce oil and gas. At page 571 the court said:

“Tenants in common are the owners of the substance of the estate. They may make such reasonable use of the common property as is necessary to enjoy the benefits and value of such ownership. Since an estate of a co-tenant in a mine or oil well can only be enjoyed by removing the products thereof, the taking of mineral from a mine and the extraction of oil from an oil well are the use and not the destruction of the estate. This being true, a tenant in common without the consent of his co-tenant, *has the right* to develop and operate the common property for oil and gas and for that purpose may drill wells and erect necessary plants.”

In *Davis v. Byrd*, 185 S.W. (2d) 866, one co-tenant sought to restrain the lessee of another co-tenant from developing the property under a mineral lease. In approving the trial court's dismissal of the petition, the opinion says:

“Injunction will not lie at the instance of one co-tenant to restrain another co-tenant or his lessee from conducting mining operations on the common property unless it appears that such tenant in common or his lessee has excluded or prevented the complaining co-tenant from exercising the same rights and privileges.”

The same rule applies between co-lessees as distinguished from co-owners of the fee. In *Allies Oil Co. v. Ayers*, 152 La. 19; 92 So. 720, one co-lessee drilled an oil well and obtained production after his co-lessee had refused to participate. It was held that the non-

participating co-lessee was entitled to one-half of the production less one-half of the expense, the court saying:

“For to the extent that they were invested by the owner with the right to sever the oil from the land, plaintiff and defendant occupied towards each other exactly the same relations as if they owned the land in common.”

Such action by a co-tenant or co-lessee merely imposes upon the acting party an obligation to account to the other for his share of the net production. The drilling, not being an adverse act, cannot be stopped by the other party in interest. One cannot be estopped for failing to prevent action which one has no right to enjoin.

Meagher had already given formal and adequate notice to all concerned that he claimed interests in the property adverse to the interests claimed by them. What better notice could be given than the pendency of an unfinished quiet title action? The lis pendens filed May 4, 1945, notified not only these appellants but the world that the property rights in this land were in litigation and until that litigation was concluded no one, much less the litigants, had any basis for assuming that Meagher was willing to accept less than his lawful interest.

The equity platitudes which follow in the remainder of this portion of appellants' brief tempt us to vio-

late the restraints to which the dignity of this court is entitled.

Here we have Stock and Juhan asserting a title based upon a quitclaim executed six months after the same interest had been transferred to Meagher. They not only knew of the transfer but Juhan's representative took Stock's quitclaim with the express understanding that Stock would receive nothing unless they could subsequently avoid the prior transfer to Meagher.⁵

Appellants called the Stock to Meagher transfer an "after thought." There is no basis for this. It is true Meagher did not consider he would need it to establish his rights for he thought he owned a fee simple. But it was no "after thought" once the various interests in the leasehold became relevant.

Appellants would set aside the release as "a writing almost forgotten." Forgotten by whom? Certainly not by Meagher. Certainly not by Juhan or Stock. Their deal was that Stock would get something only if this "writing almost forgotten" could be rescinded.

These men who now plead that "they at every moment acted as reasonable men" and say: "There is not a

⁵The slight value Stock placed upon his own chances of avoiding the prior release is eloquently proved by the fact that all he was to get from his quitclaim to Juhan via Hill was one-eighth of whatever Juhan could wrest from Meagher. Stock said in effect: "Here is nothing, but if you can make something out of it you can have seven-eighths of it."

scintilla of evidence to put in question their good faith and honest purpose," are the same men who realized for years that rescission of the Stock release would be necessary for them to control the entire leasehold. Did they take any action to rescind the document? They did not. When Meagher learned of the Stock to Hill quitclaim and recognized that was confusing to the title, he wrote to Stock about it. Did Stock reply and assert his position? He did not. On the contrary, these men of "good faith and honest purpose" have *hoped* all along that the "writing almost forgotten" would be forgotten. But when the relevancy of this document became apparent it was urged by Meagher and then for the first and only time Stock and his associates made a belated effort to rescind it.

They talk as though Meagher sat by and took no action until after oil was discovered. This is not true. He commenced this proceeding *four years before oil was discovered* and has never dismissed it. But Stock is guilty of the very charge which is leveled at Meagher. When he made his deal with Juhan in 1945, Stock knew nothing would come of it unless his prior transfer to Meagher could be set aside. That was a few months after Meagher had commenced this suit. Yet Stock made no move to set it aside for four years and ten months after execution. Moreover, Stock waited for eleven months *after oil was discovered* before he took his first step. It was Stock, not Meagher, who deferred action until discovery of oil.

The authorities cited in this section of appellants' brief need not be reviewed. Respondent accepts their principles. They even apply to the facts of this case, but only in this way: the cited cases demonstrate why *Stock* cannot rescind the release he gave to Meagher. But these authorities afford appellants nothing in support of their claim that Meagher is estopped or barred by laches, for the facts upon which these cases depend do not exist as against Meagher.

Estoppel requires at least two elements, (1) representation, and (2) reliance. The above comments show the complete absence of any representation by Meagher indicating any intention on his part to forego his rights and claims. This alone would preclude estoppel.

But in addition, even if some representation could be conceived, the other essential element—reliance—is not present.

We find no contention that any action by Meagher involves an estoppel with respect to any defendant other than *Stock*. But the testimony develops a remarkably clear absence of any reliance by *Stock* upon any act or lack of action by Meagher.

First we must find what it was *Stock* did which can even be claimed to have been done in reliance upon Meagher's actions.⁶ Here we find one fact only:

⁶The effect of the contrary to fact recitals contained in the *Stock* to Meagher transfer is not treated under the subject of estoppel. It is fully discussed in the sections on fraud and mistake, *infra*.

In 1948 Stock purchased from Juhan (A-23) an interest in the lease. It will be noted that Stock claims that his present interest in the lease is not derivative from the one-eighth contingent interest he was to get under the Stock-Hill-Juhan deal of 1945. According to Stock that interest was returned to Juhan in 1948 in the deal by which Stock for \$19,500.00 received a one-fourth interest from Juhan. Further, Stock's own testimony discloses that his purchase in 1948 was not made because Stock thought Meagher had decided to forego his claims, but on the contrary was made to switch Stock's interest in the lease from the small contingency he had saved from the Stock line of title into an interest descending through the line of title from Phebus (Appendix B *infra*). Stock testified that when he obtained the 1948 quitclaim from Juhan he paid \$19,500.00⁷ and gave back to Juhan the old one-eighth contingent interest which Stock retained under the 1945 Stock-Hill-Juhan deal. Stock also testified that he regards the interest he acquired in 1948 as traceable to the *Phebus* line of title, and when that deal was negotiated he was trying to get an interest in the lease "win, lose or draw in the case with Meagher" By such a switch of interests, Stock obviously was trying to put himself into a position that would be free of any claim

⁷Note that \$6500.00 of the \$19,500.00 was used to pay Phebus for the quitclaim (A-18) he had given Juhan on January 19, 1945. See letter agreement between Juhan and Stock dated July 9, 1948 (A-51).

Meagher might assert.⁸ This is a far cry from reliance upon any representation that Meagher had given up his claims.

Appellants' brief does not particularize as to the manner or extent of Stock's participation in the expenses of drilling. This is because there was no commitment by Stock to participate in these expenses prior to July of 1948 at which time Stock made his deal for a new interest as discussed above.

The trial court opinion comments upon this as follows: "If Stock himself had expended any money for development since the action was filed (which the record does not specifically indicate) he, *along with all other parties to this action, dealt with the property subject to the exigencies of this action* and may not assert such expenditures as a change of position upon which to base an estoppel" (Emphasis added).

The following statement from 31 Corp. Jur. Sec. p. 267, par. 71, is sufficient to illustrate the well-established legal principles which dispose of the point:

"It is an essential element of equitable estoppel that the person invoking it has been influenced by, and has relied on, the representation or conduct of

⁸It is not material to Meagher's point whether the Stock-Juhan deal in 1948 did or did not give Stock an interest solely traceable to the Phebus line of title. Meagher's point is that such is Stock's explanation of that deal. If that was his intention, and he claims it was, he could not possibly have been motivated by any belief that Meagher had given up. Therefore, there was no action taken by Stock in reliance upon anything attributable to Meagher.

the person sought to be estopped * * * The person asserting the estoppel must have been actually misled to his injury, by the acts, conduct, words, or silence of the person claiming to be estopped. There can be no equitable estoppel where the complainant's act appears to be rather the result of his own will or judgment than the product of what defendant did or represented. The act must be induced by, and be the immediate or proximate result of, the conduct or representation, which must be such as the party claiming the estoppel had a right to rely on. The representation or conduct must of itself have been sufficient to warrant the action of the party claiming the estoppel."

Finding of Fact No. 36 deals with the factual phase of this issue, as follows: "No action, lack of action, or change of position by any defendant was induced by or undertaken in reliance upon any action, inaction, or representation, express or implied, attributable to Meagher; nor did any defendant take or refrain from taking any action due to any misconception of fact or of law."

The following portion of Finding of Fact No. 37 is also in point: "Neither said drilling operations nor any expenditures incurred in connection therewith were induced by or were undertaken in reliance upon any representation, express or implied, attributable to Meagher. Stock and all other parties to this action dealt with the property subject to the exigencies of this litigation and with full knowledge that Meagher

asserted interests substantially in conflict with the claims of each defendant.”

Conclusion of Law No. 15 correctly states: “Meagher is neither estopped nor barred by laches from asserting the interests to which he is entitled as herein set forth.”

4. MEAGHER IS GUILTY OF NO FRAUDULENT CONDUCT WHATSOEVER.

Appellants devote separate sections of their brief to claims of mistake and lack of consideration. But in their argument under the serious charge of fraud, these other issues are literally brought in by the heels. Recognizing this they say, “whether it be called fraud or mistake is of little consequence, the result is the same.” The same argument could be urged to distinguish murder from an accidental killing, but the legal consequences are different.

We agree that the result is the same in the sense that either fraud or actionable mistake gives rise to the claim of rescission. In both situations that claim can be lost by a party who, being fully aware of his claim, conceals his decision to assert it, lets years elapse and withholds any action until great changes in the value of the property have occurred. However, the foregoing considerations are in the nature of confession and avoidance and are asserted by Meagher in Section

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